Case No. SC06-1204

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ELIZABETH J. NEUMONT, et al., Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA and MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA, Defendants/Appellees.

On Certification from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit Case No. 04-13610

INITIAL BRIEF OF PLAINTIFFS/APPELLANTS

Harold E. Wolfe, Jr.
Florida Bar No. 278297
Harold E. Wolfe, Jr., P.A.
Suite 302, Executive Centre
2300 Palm Beach Lakes Boulevard
West Palm Beach, Florida 33409
Telephone: (561) 697-4100
Facsimile: (561) 697-4101

William H. Pincus
Florida Bar No. 65595
Law Offices of William H. Pincus
324 North Lakeside Court
West Palm Beach, Florida 33407
Telephone: (561) 868-1340

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

As set out below, the case comes to this Court on certification from the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit. The one issue presented for review is the following question certified by the Eleventh Circuit:

Whether, for purposes of Florida Statutes section 125.66(4)(b), a "substantial or material change" in a proposed ordinance during the enactment process (that is, the kind of change that would require a county to start the process over) is confined to a change in the "original general purpose" of the proposed ordinance, or whether a substantial or material change includes (1) a change to the "actual list of permitted, conditional, or prohibited uses within a zoning category," or (2) a change necessary to secure legislative passage of the ordinance?

Appendix ("App.") A at 6 (attached hereto), reprinted in Neumont v. Florida, 451 F.3d 1284, 1287 (11th Cir. 2006) (per curiam).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The following part sets forth (A) the nature of the case, (B) the course of proceedings and disposition in previous tribunals, and (C) the statement of facts.

A. Nature of the Case.

In this action, Plaintiffs/Appellants Elizabeth J. Neumont and all others similarly situated ("Plaintiffs") attack Monroe County Ordinance 004-1997 under both federal and Florida law. With respect to federal law, Plaintiffs claim that Ordinance 004-1997 (which generally bans short-term vacation rentals of property in Monroe County) was enacted in a manner that deprived Plaintiffs of their property without due process of law, was prematurely enforced in the same manner, and (both on its face and as applied) effected a taking of private property without just compensation—all in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution.

See Record Excerpts in the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit ("R.E.") Tab B at 26-27, 30-34, 39-43 (Second Amended Complaint).²

¹ As exemplified by this citation, materials found in the attached Appendix are cited by tabbed exhibit letter and internal page number.

² As exemplified by this citation, materials found in the Record Excerpts filed in the Eleventh Circuit are cited by tabbed exhibit letter and internal page number.

With respect to Florida law, Plaintiffs claim that Ordinance 004-1997 is void ab initio because it was enacted in violation of Florida Statutes § 125.66(4)(b) (2005); that the Ordinance was prematurely enforced (before March 16, 2000) in violation of Florida Statutes § 380.05(6) (2005); and that Monroe County's ban on short-term vacation rentals (of which Ordinance 004-1997 was the last in a series of implementations) effected a taking of private property without just compensation in violation of Article X, § 6(a) of the Florida Constitution. *See* R.E. Tab B at 21-22, 35-39.

As the case comes to this Court on certification from the Eleventh Circuit, it involves only the issue whether enactment of Ordinance 004-1997 violated Florida Statutes § 125.66(4)(b). *See supra* p. 1.

B. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in Previous Tribunals.

Plaintiffs filed this class action on May 21, 1999 in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida. *See* R.E. Tab A (Docket Entry 2). In the first two years of proceedings, the district court dismissed Defendant/Appellee State of Florida as a party and granted class certification to Plaintiffs. *See id.* (Docket Entry 62); *Neumont v. Florida*, 198 F.R.D. 554 (S.D. Fla. 2000). During this period, Plaintiffs learned through discovery that Monroe County had published and considered multiple drafts of what became Ordinance 004-1997, and that these drafts were

_

³ Because the State of Florida did not further participate in this case after being dismissed in 2000, this brief will not again refer to the State.

inconsistent with one another in crucial respects; for example, vacation rentals were changed from permitted to prohibited uses (or vice versa) within zoning categories. Subsequently, Plaintiffs filed a Second Amended Complaint against Monroe County alone, asserting the various federal and state claims set forth above. The complaint sought declaratory relief, injunctive relief, and money damages as to all claims.

The action then moved on to several rounds of summary judgment proceedings. In one that culminated in an order filed on May 21, 2003, the district court rejected Plaintiffs' claim that Ordinance 004-1997 is void ab initio because the process of its enactment violated Florida Statutes § 125.66(4)(b). See generally R.E. Tab F, reprinted in Neumont v. Monroe County, 280 F. Supp. 2d 1367 (S.D. Fla. 2003). As relevant here, the court ruled that Monroe County had complied with the statute because "there were no substantial or material changes made to the Ordinance" during the enactment process. Id. at 11. In various other rounds, the district court granted summary judgment to Monroe County on all of Plaintiffs' remaining claims, federal and state. See R.E. Tab E, reprinted in Neumont v. Monroe County, 242 F. Supp. 2d 1265 (S.D. Fla. 2002); R.E. Tab G. Based on these summary judgment rulings, the district court dismissed Plaintiffs' complaint with prejudice and entered a final judgment in favor of Monroe County on June 21, 2004. See R.E. Tab D.

In their ensuing appeal to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, Plaintiffs immediately moved to certify to this Court two questions—one as

to Florida Statutes § 125.66(4)(b) and the other as to Florida Statutes § 380.05(6)—pursuant to Article V, § 3(b) of the Florida Constitution. *See* Appellants' Motion to Certify State-Law Questions to the Florida Supreme Court and to Postpone Briefing Pending Certification at 2, 20 (filed Sept. 17, 2004). In addition to the question that was actually certified, Plaintiffs sought to certify the following question:

Whether, for purposes of Florida Statutes § 380.05(6), a "challenge to the [state land planning agency's final] order is resolved pursuant to chapter 120" upon completion of *administrative* review, or whether a challenge is resolved pursuant to chapter 120 only upon exhaustion of later *judicial* review pursuant to Florida Statutes § 120.68.

The Eleventh Circuit ordered that Plaintiffs' motion to certify be carried with the case, and so the parties duly filed their briefs on the merits and orally argued the matter. The Eleventh Circuit issued its opinion on June 14, 2006, granting Plaintiffs' motion to certify with respect to Florida Statutes § 125.66(4)(b):

Among their claims, Plaintiffs contend that Monroe [County] violated Florida Statutes section 125.66 when it made changes to the Ordinance during the enactment process. Because no controlling Florida Supreme Court authority seems to exist on this question, we certify the issue to the Florida Supreme Court.

App. A at 3 (footnotes omitted); see also supra p. 1 (quoting certified question).

for their claim that Ordinance 004-1997 was void ab initio, see R.E. Tab F at 8-15.

- 5 -

⁴ In this part of its opinion, *see* App. A at 3 n.2, the Eleventh Circuit observed that the Second Amended Complaint, *see* R.E. Tab B at 37-39, inadvertently referred to § 166.041 rather than to § 125.66. The parties long ago corrected this "scrivener's error" by an agreed-upon order, *see* R.E. Tab A (Docket Entry 149), and the district court well understood that Plaintiffs were relying on § 125.66 as the statutory basis

C. Statement of Facts.

As is apparent from the foregoing, this action "focuses on a Monroe County Ordinance (Ordinance 004-1997)." R.E. Tab E at 1. The Ordinance was adopted on February 3, 1997 and enforced in earnest beginning the following year; it confirms "restrictions on certain uses of property as vacation rentals." *Id.* at 2; *see also* App. A at 2. Plaintiffs are a certified class of "property owners in Monroe County subject to the Ordinance." R.E. Tab E at 2. Although Plaintiffs originally named the State of Florida as a defendant, they now seek relief solely against the County. As they relate to the certified question and the enactment of the Ordinance, the relevant facts (which are largely a matter of public record) were distilled by the district court into twenty-seven undisputed facts. *See* R.E. Tab F at 3-8. Following are the highlights; a chart detailing the twists and turns of the enactment process outlined below may be found in Appendix B hereto.

Monroe County first publicly advertised the proposed ordinance, as required by Florida Statutes § 125.66(4)(b)(2), on November 7-9, 1996; at that time (and until the first hearing on December 10, 1996) the only version of the ordinance available for public review was a draft dated September 17th. *See* R.E. Tab F at 5 (Undisputed Facts 6-10). The version actually considered at the first hearing in December was not completed until that day, and it was not distributed to the county commissioners until after the hearing began—or to the public until the next day. *See id.* (Undisputed

Fact 10); App. C at 24:24-25:5. The December 10th draft differed from the September 17th draft in many respects vis-à-vis zoning categories, including the fact that the earlier one "prohibited vacation rentals in some select [zoning] districts and allowed an option to create[] a sub-district where vacation rentals would be *permitted*," while the later draft "*eliminated* the sub-district option." R.E. Tab F at 6 (Undisputed Fact 11(b)) (emphasis added). As the Eleventh Circuit observed, at their first hearing, the county commissioners "discussed a different and previously unavailable draft of the Ordinance, which substantially added to the quantity of regulations and the difficulty of meeting the Ordinance's regulatory burdens." App. A at 4.

The second hearing, which took place on February 3, 1997, considered yet another version of the proposed ordinance, namely, a draft dated January 29th but not made available to the public until January 31st; the hearing also considered—and the county commissioners ultimately adopted—additional changes found on a so-called "Errata Sheet" that was not made available to the public until the hearing. *See* R.E. Tab F at 5-7 (Undisputed Facts 4, 14-16); *see also* App. A at 4 (observing that at the second hearing, the county commissioners "discussed a draft of the Ordinance which was unavailable to the public until three days before the hearing" and "also considered and adopted at the hearing certain previously unpublished changes to the draft Ordinance, including an additional prohibition against vacation rentals in the Commercial Fishing Residential District").

Ordinance 004-1997 was officially enacted at the second hearing after further changes to zoning categories were made as a result of exchanges among the county commissioners after the close of all public discussion. *See* R.E. Tab F at 7-8 (Undisputed Facts 20-25). The differences between the Ordinance as officially enacted and earlier drafts made available to the public included the following significant changes to various zoning categories: (1) although earlier drafts *permitted* vacation rentals in "Sparsely Settled Residential Districts," the enacted version *prohibited* such rentals; (2) although earlier drafts made *no mention whatever* of the "Commercial Fishing Residential District," the enacted version *prohibited* vacation rentals in that district; and (3) although earlier drafts expressly *permitted* vacation rentals in thirteen of the twenty-two "Commercial Fishing Districts," the enacted version *dropped all references* to such districts. *See id.* at 7-8 (Undisputed Facts 20-27); App. A at 4; App. B.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under Florida Statutes § 125.66(4)(b), a county ordinance is subject to special notice requirements if it proposes to change the "actual list of permitted, conditional, or prohibited uses within a zoning category." When an ordinance of this kind undergoes changes during the lengthy enactment process prescribed by statute, a county must begin the enactment process anew if the changes are "substantial or material."

1. A "substantial or material change" in a proposed ordinance during the enactment process includes any change that would trigger the application of Section

125.66(4)(b) in the first place, namely, a change to the "actual list of permitted, conditional, or prohibited uses within a zoning category." This conclusion is consistent with judicial precedent recognizing that to prohibit what was previously permitted is to change the use of property "substantially." This conclusion is also consistent with the legislative history of Section 125.66, as it was comprehensively revised in 1995. Finally, this conclusion is compelled by procedural due process considerations, because a rule under which a county could advertise and hold hearings regarding one particular change to permitted or prohibited uses within a zoning category—and then actually enact different changes to those uses—would render the constitutionally required "notice" worthless and the "opportunity" to be heard illusory.

- 2. A "substantial or material change" in a proposed ordinance during the enactment process also includes any change necessary to secure legislative passage of the ordinance. Such a change is by definition a cause-in-fact of passage, and (as tort law recognizes) a factor that *causes* a result is necessarily a "*substantial* factor."
- 3. A "substantial or material change" in a proposed ordinance during the enactment process cannot be confined to a change in the "original general purpose" of the ordinance. That standard, proposed in a 1982 opinion of the Florida Attorney General, cannot be reconciled with the text of Section 125.66(4)(b) or the decisions of the courts of Florida and other jurisdictions, none of which uses the term *purpose*. Finally, a *purpose*-based standard provides no real notice or opportunity to be heard.

ARGUMENT

As comprehensively amended in 1995, Florida Statutes § 125.66(4) now provides in relevant part:

Ordinances or resolutions that change the actual list of permitted, conditional, or prohibited uses within a zoning category, or ordinances or resolutions initiated by the county that change the actual zoning map designation of a parcel or parcels of land shall be enacted pursuant to the following procedure:

. . . .

- (b) In cases in which the proposed ordinance or resolution changes the actual list of permitted, conditional, or prohibited uses within a zoning category, or changes the actual zoning map designation of a parcel or parcels of land involving 10 contiguous acres or more, the board of county commissioners shall provide for public notice and hearings as follows:
- 1. The board of county commissioners shall hold two advertised public hearings on the proposed ordinance or resolution. . . .
- 2. The required advertisements shall be [of specified size, placement, and form].
- 3. In lieu of publishing the advertisements set out in this paragraph, the board of county commissioners may mail a notice to each person owning real property within the area covered by the ordinance or resolution. . . .

As the Eleventh Circuit recognized, Section 125.66(4)(b) imposes "notice requirements for proposed ordinances that change the actual list of permitted, conditional, or prohibited uses within a zoning category." App. A at 5; *see also* R.E. Tab F at 4 (Undisputed Fact 3) ("Each Monroe County Land Use District is a 'zoning category'

within the meaning of § 125.66(4)."). Under Florida law, "strict compliance with the notice requirements of the state statute is a jurisdictional and mandatory prerequisite to the valid enactment of a zoning measure," such that "[f]ailure to follow the state statutory notice requirements render[s] a zoning ordinance void." App. A at 5; see also, e.g., Webb v. Town Council, 766 So. 2d 1241, 1244 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000) (citing, inter alia, Ellison v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 183 So. 2d 193, 195 (Fla. 1966)).

The federal courts agreed with the parties that Ordinance 004-1997 is subject to these notice requirements. *See* App. A at 4; R.E. Tab F at 4-5 (Undisputed Facts 3-4). The federal courts also agreed with the parties that "under Florida law, Monroe [County] would be required to renew the enactment process if 'substantial or material changes' were made to the Ordinance during the enactment process." App. A at 5; *see also* R.E. Tab F. at 9. But the parties dispute, and the federal courts were unable to resolve, just what constitutes a *substantial or material change* to a proposed ordinance. That is the question for this Court. As a question of statutory interpretation, review is de novo. *See Cline v. State*, 912 So. 2d 550, 555 (Fla. 2005).

As explained below, the plain language of Section 125.66(4)(b), as seen in the light of of long-standing caselaw in the land-use context, along with procedural due process considerations, compel the conclusion that a substantial or material change in a proposed ordinance includes any change to the "actual list of permitted, conditional, or prohibited uses within a zoning category." These same factors also compel

the conclusion that any change necessary to secure legis lative passage of a proposed ordinance likewise constitutes a substantial or material change. On the other hand, to confine the "substantial or material" category merely to changes in the "original general purpose" of a proposed ordinance would depart from the statutory text and eviscerate the due process-like protections that the Legislature specifically afforded to property owners and other interested citizens.

I. A "Substantial or Material Change" in a Proposed Ordinance During the Enactment Process Includes Any Change to the "Actual List of Permitted, Conditional, or Prohibited Uses Within a Zoning Category."

The "substantial or material" standard has a long pedigree in Florida caselaw. See McGee v. City of Cocoa, 168 So. 2d 766, 768 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964) (holding that a "zoning amendment must conform substantially to the proposed changes," but the amendment at issue "was not of such substantial and material nature as to require a new notice"), quoted in Williams v. City of North Miami, 213 So. 2d 5, 7-8 (Fla. 3d DCA 1968); accord Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 82-93, at 3 (1982) (concluding that "if any substantial or material changes or amendments are made during the process of enacting a municipal ordinance, the enactment process . . . must begin anew with full compliance with the [applicable] reading and notice requirements"). More recently, courts have used the adverb substantially to describe the nature of the changes that trigger a county's obligation to "renew" the process of enacting a land-use ordinance:

"The law is well settled that notice must adequately inform as to what changes are proposed, and the actual change *must conform substantially* to the proposed changes in the notice." *Love Our Lakes Association v. Pasco County*, 543 So. 2d 855, 857 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) (emphasis added), *quoted in Webb v. Town Council*, 766 So. 2d 1241, 1244 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000).

Crucially, *substantially* is the very same adverb that courts have consistently used to describe the very kinds of legislative changes that trigger heightened notice requirements in the first place. That is, "courts have generally held that municipal ordinances which *substantially impair the use of land* are invalid if they were not enacted with the formality required under [the applicable statute]." *3299 North Federal Highway, Inc. v. Board of County Commissioners*, 646 So. 2d 215, 223 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994) (emphasis in original), *rev. dismissed*, 699 So. 2d 690 (Fla. 1997).⁵ This use of the term *substantially* dates back at least to *City of Sanibel v. Buntrock*, which ruled that "[i]f an ordinance *substantially* affects land use, it must be enacted under the [heightened notice] procedures which govern zoning and rezoning." 409 So. 2d 1073, 1075 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981) (emphasis added), *rev. denied*, 417 So. 2d 328 (Fla.

_

⁵ In this context, courts treat interchangeably decisions that construe Section 125.66 (which governs *county* ordinances) with those that construe Section 166.041 (which governs *municipal* ordinances). *See, e.g., 3299 North Federal Highway*, 646 So. 2d at 223 (opining that "legislative staff and the courts have looked to municipal ordinance cases for guidance" concerning county ordinances and that such cases "should be considered in construing a county ordinance"). We do the same.

1982); see also, e.g., Daytona Leisure Corp. v. City of Daytona Beach, 539 So. 2d 597, 599 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989) ("[w]here an ordinance substantially affects land use . . . , it must be enacted under the procedures that govern zoning and rezoning").

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