## SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC 06-1204

## On Certification from the United States Court of Appeals For the Eleventh Circuit Case No. 04-13610

### ELIZABETH J. NEUMONT, et al.,

## Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

## STATE OF FLORIDA and MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA,

Defendants/Appellees.

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE, MONROE COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ROBERT B. SHILLINGER, JR.

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

## IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Monroe County noticed and adopted the Ordinance lawfully.

Pursuant to § 125.66(4)(b), Fla. Stat., counties are required to advertise proposed land development ordinances *by their title only*. Nothing in § 125.66 requires titles to land development ordinances to contain a list of affected zoning districts.

Section 125.67, Fla. Stat. (1997) requires the original general purpose (i.e. subject) of an ordinance to be briefly expressed in its title. The Legislature has employed the same standards regarding "titles" to ordinances as Art. III, § 6 of the Florida Constitution requires for acts of the Legislature.

Because the statute requires notice of proposed land development ordinances <u>solely by title</u>, only when the changes occurring during the enactment process

render the <u>title</u> inaccurate, misleading or otherwise deficient (i.e. when the *subject* changes), are such changes material and substantial so as to render the ordinance void.

The subject of a proposed land development ordinance is the *use* to be regulated, not the list of zoning categories to be affected.

When a county follows the procedural requirements of § 125.66 and § 125.67 and, during the enactment process, makes changes to the legislation, changes that do not require re-titling, then Florida courts should not strike down such validly enacted legislative measures.

Florida's courts must allow county and municipal legislative bodies to respond nimbly and appropriately to public input, and thereby advance the Legislature's intent in enacting § 125.66. To rule otherwise would defeat the very purpose of public notice of the intended enactment by unduly burdening and restraining those legislative bodies from responding to public input in enacting ordinances.

When a county duly notices its intent to regulate transient rentals in that county's zoning districts, and that county follows the statutorily mandated processes of § 125.66(4)(b) and § 125.67, then a court should not void a duly-enacted ordinance that accomplishes precisely what is noticed.

## V. ARGUMENT

## A. <u>Introduction</u>.

The Florida Legislature has prescribed the process by which a county may enact ordinances in § 125.66 and § 125.67.<sup>8</sup> Because the Legislature has prescribed a specific statutory framework for adopting ordinances, and because the Certified Question directly addresses this process, § 125.66 and § 125.67 are reproduced in their entirety in the County's Appendix (Def. App. Tab 3). The relevant portions which govern the adoption process for the subject Ordinance are reproduced below:

# 125.66 Ordinances; enactment procedure; emergency ordinances; rezoning or change of land use ordinances or resolutions.—

\* \* \*

(4) Ordinances or resolutions, initiated by other than the county, that change the actual zoning map designation of a parcel or parcels of land shall be enacted pursuant to subsection (2). Ordinances or resolutions that change the actual list of permitted, conditional, or prohibited uses within a zoning category, or ordinances or resolutions initiated by the county that change the actual zoning map designation of a parcel or parcels of land shall be enacted pursuant to the following procedure:

\* \* \*

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Art. VIII, § (1)(f) and (g) of the Florida Constitution, grants both charter and non-charter county governments the power to enact ordinances. (Tab E, p. 7).

(b) In cases in which the proposed ordinance or resolution changes the actual list of permitted, conditional, or prohibited uses within a zoning category, or changes the actual zoning map designation of a parcel or parcels of land involving 10 contiguous acres or more, the board of county commissioners shall provide for public notice and hearings as follows:

1. The board of county commissioners shall hold two advertised public hearings on the proposed ordinance or resolution. At least one hearing shall be held after 5 p.m. on a weekday, unless the board of county commissioners, by a majority plus one vote, elects to conduct that hearing at another time of day. The first public hearing shall be held at least 7 days after the day that the first advertisement is published. The second hearing shall be held at least 10 days after the first hearing and shall be advertised at least 5 days prior to the public hearing.

2. The required advertisements shall be no less than 2 columns wide by 10 inches long in a standard size or a tabloid size newspaper, and the headline in the advertisement shall be in a type no smaller than 18 point. The advertisement shall not be placed in that portion of the newspaper where legal notices and classified advertisements appear. The advertisement shall be placed in a newspaper of general paid circulation in the county and of general interest and readership in the community pursuant to chapter 50, not one of limited subject matter. It is the legislative intent that, whenever possible, the advertisement shall appear in a newspaper in the community is published less than 5 days a week. The advertisement shall be in substantially the following form:

## NOTICE OF (TYPE OF) CHANGE

The <u>(name of local governmental unit)</u> proposes to adopt the following by ordinance or resolution: <u>(title of</u> <u>ordinance or resolution)</u>. A public hearing on the ordinance or resolution will be held on <u>(date and time)</u> at <u>(meeting place)</u>.

Except for amendments which change the actual list of permitted, conditional, or prohibited uses within a zoning category, the advertisement shall contain a geographic location map which clearly indicates the area within the local government covered by the proposed ordinance or resolution. The map shall include major street names as a means of identification of the general area.

**125.67** Limitation on subject and matter embraced in ordinances; amendments; enacting clause. Every ordinance shall embrace but one subject and matter properly connected therewith, and the subject shall be briefly expressed in the title. . . .

The statutory scheme does not in any way limit or restrict legislative

changes made during the enactment process – – between the two required hearings.

Nor do the relevant statutes require that proposed drafts be made available for

public inspection<sup>9</sup> or that proposed drafts or summaries be published. Nor do the

relevant statutes require the list of potentially affected zoning districts be included

in a proposal's title.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Notwithstanding the fact that nothing in Chapter 125, Fla. Stat., requires a proposed land development ordinance be available for public inspection, Plaintiffs spend a significant amount of space on such irrelevancies in their Initial Brief to this Court. These contentions were rejected by the trial court (Tab F, p. 11), and are not part of the question certified. In any event, as found by the trial court, none of the evolving drafts of the Ordinance changed its original general purpose: the regulation of vacation use.

Florida's explicit statutory scheme, and an unbroken line of well-settled Florida cases,<sup>10</sup> provide the answer to the Certified Question: Because § 125.66(4)(b)(2) requires notice of proposed land development ordinances <u>solely</u> <u>by title</u>, only when the changes occurring during the enactment process render the <u>title</u> inaccurate, misleading or otherwise deficient, are such changes material and substantial so as to render the ordinance void, thereby requiring a county to begin anew the enactment process.

Since Plaintiffs argue that (i) <u>any</u> change of the zoning categories involved or (ii) <u>any</u> change necessary to secure legislative passage of a proposed land development ordinance would render such an ordinance void, the Certified Question and the County's Brief address these two propositions.

The parties are in agreement that a "material and substantial" change made during the enactment process would require the enactment process to begin anew (see Certified Question Order at p. 5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Wright v. Bd. of Public Instruction, Sumter County, 48 So. 2d 912, 914-15 (Fla. 1950); Farabee v. Bd. of Trustees, Lee County Law Library, 254 So. 2d 1, 4-5 (Fla. 1971); City of Pensacola v. Shevin, 396 So. 2d 179, 180 (Fla. 1981); Franklin v. State, 887 So. 2d 1063, 1073-81 (Fla. 2004).

However, Plaintiffs reject, and ask this Court to reject: Judge Paine's conclusion,<sup>11</sup> the Florida Attorney General's conclusion,<sup>12</sup> the Fourth District Court of Appeal's conclusion,<sup>13</sup> the conclusion of the Florida Association of County and the Florida League of Cities,<sup>14</sup> persuasive precedent from Texas,<sup>15</sup> Tennessee,<sup>16</sup> Kentucky,<sup>17</sup> Maryland,<sup>18</sup> Alaska,<sup>19</sup> North Carolina,<sup>20</sup> Massachusetts,<sup>21</sup>

<sup>11</sup> Tab F, pp. 11, 15.

<sup>12</sup> Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 82-93.

<sup>13</sup> City of Hallandale v. State, 371 So. 2d 186, 189 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1979).

<sup>14</sup> *Amicus* movant in this case.

<sup>15</sup> *B* & *B* Vending Co. v. City of El Paso, 408 S.W.2d 545, 548 (Tex. Ct. App. 1966).

<sup>16</sup> *Metropolitan Gov't of Nashville and Davidson County v. Mitchell*, 539 S.W.2d 20, 22 (Tenn. 1976).

<sup>17</sup> Farnsley v. Henderson, 240 S.W.2d 82, 83-4 (Ky. 1951).

<sup>18</sup> Ajamian v. Montgomery County, 639 A.2d 157, 166-67, 99 Md. App. 665, 684-85 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 1994).

<sup>19</sup> Jefferson v. City of Anchorage, 513 P.2d 1099, 1101-02 (Alaska 1973); Liberati v. Bristol Bay Borough, 584 P.2d 1115, 1119 (Alaska 1978).

<sup>20</sup> *Heaton v. City of Charlotte*, 178 S.E.2d 352, 359-60, 227 N.C. 506, 518 (N.C. 1971).

<sup>21</sup> Nat'l Amusements, Inc. v. Comm'r of Inspectional Services, 523 N.E.2d 789, 793, 26 Mass. App. Ct. 80, 87 (Mass. App. Ct. 1988); Johnson v. Town of Framingham, 242 N.E.2d 420, 421-22, 354 Mass. 750, 753 (Mass. 1968); Town of Burlington v. Dunn, 61 N.E.2d 243, 245, 318 Mass. 216, 219 (Mass. 1945).

Connecticut,<sup>22</sup> New Jersey,<sup>23</sup> and Virginia,<sup>24</sup> and the County's conclusion, that, for such a legislative change to be "material and substantial" the change must alter the *original general purpose* of the measure.

- B. A Change To The "Actual List Of Permitted, Conditional, Or Prohibited Uses Within A Zoning Category" During The Enactment Process Does Not Constitute A "Substantial Or Material Change" Requiring That A County Start The Process Over.
  - 1. The Statutory Scheme Requires Notice of Proposed Land Development Ordinances By Title Only.

Plaintiffs argue that § 125.66(4)(b), Fla. Stat., compelled the County to begin the legislative enactment process anew because the County made intraenactment changes to the zoning districts affected by the Ordinance (Pltfs. Brief at 12-14).

The Ordinance was duly noticed as ". . . modifying the existing prohibition on tourist housing use including vacation rentals *in all land use districts*."<sup>25</sup> (Tab F, pp. 13-14) (Emphasis added).

<sup>22</sup> Neuger vs. Zoning Bd. of Stamford, 145 A.2d 738, 740-41, 145 Conn. 625, 630-31, (Conn. 1958).

<sup>23</sup> Wollen v. Borough of Fort Lee, 142 A. 2d 881, 887-88, 27 N.J. 408, 419-21 (N.J. 1958).

<sup>24</sup> *Ciaffone v. Community Shopping*, 77 S.E.2d 817, 822, 195 Va. 41, 50 (Va. 1953).

There is no dispute that the Ordinance accomplished precisely what was advertised: the Ordinance modified the existing prohibitions on tourist housing in the County's land use districts. As Judge Paine recognized, evolving drafts of the Ordinance never stepped beyond the boundaries of the original general purpose of the Ordinance, i.e. the regulation of short term rentals of residential properties known as vacation rentals. (Tab F, p. 11).

Plaintiffs argue, instead, that § 125.66(4)(b) required the notice to identify precisely which land use districts would be affected by the proposal, and to "lock-in" that noticed list, thereby prohibiting the BOCC from, in any way, altering that list during the enactment process. (Pltfs. Brief at p. 14).

Such an argument, however, fundamentally misconstrues the statutory scheme governing the process. Not only does Plaintiffs' construction unnecessarily put the BOCC in a legislative straightjacket, making it unable to respond to public input resulting from the required public notices, it defies the statute's plain language.

At the outset of this analysis, it is important to understand how § 125.66 works.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> The first hearing notice was identical to the second hearing notice except that, in the first hearing notice, the words "all land use districts" read "residential districts." As Judge Paine noted, this non-material change actually *broadened* the scope of the notice so that ". . . no one was left out of the notice." (Tab F, pp. 14-15, n. 11, 12).

Subsection (2) of the statute governs the "regular enactment procedure" for county ordinances which are not land development ordinances.

Subsection (3) of the statute governs the "emergency enactment procedure."

Subsection (4) of the statute governs the process for adopting land development ordinances, and is bifurcated into subparagraphs based on the size of the affected areas, i.e. less than 10 contiguous acres and more than 10 contiguous acres.

In cases in which the proposed land development ordinance affects parcels of land involving ten or more contiguous acres (e.g. the subject Ordinance), the Legislature has drafted a very specific and precise enactment mechanism.

In summary, for proposed land development ordinances affecting more than 10 acres of contiguous land, where the notice will be by publication rather than mail - - the process applicable to the subject Ordinance- – the Legislature was very careful to <u>clearly, precisely and explicitly</u> prescribe:

- (i) the *number* of required hearings (two),
- (ii) *when* the hearings must occur (at least 10 days apart),
- (iii) *when* the hearing notices must be published (7 days prior to the first hearing and 5 days prior to the second hearing),
- (iv) the *size* of the hearing notices (e.g. 2 columns wide by 10 inches long in 18 print type),
- (v) the *type* of newspaper (general paid circulation),

- (vi) *where* in the newspaper (not in the legal notices section) the notice must appear, and
- (vii) the *text* of the notice (by title only).

§ 125.66(4)(b)(1), (2).

Nowhere in the statutory scheme is it stated, expressly or impliedly, that the notice itself must include each and every zoning category or land use district which is to be affected by the proposed land development ordinance.<sup>26</sup>

Certainly, given the precise mandates of § 125.66(4)(b)(1), (2), had the Legislature intended to require any more specificity in either the (i) text of the required notice, or (ii) enactment process, the Legislature would have included such requirements in this carefully constructed statutory scheme.<sup>27</sup> *See*, e.g., *Young v. Progressive Southeastern Ins. Co.*, 753 So. 2d 80, 85 (Fla. 2000) (". . . under the principle of statutory construction, *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*, the mention of one thing implies the exclusion of another . . . . [b]y failing to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Contrast with the Legislature's specific mandate with regard to ordinances changing the zoning map, requiring the inclusion of major street names to identify the area to be rezoned. § 125.66(4)(b)(2). While not required by § 125.66(4)(b), the two hearing notices contained a map of the entire County and stated that the BOCC proposed to "regulate the use of land within the area shown in this map." The notice goes on to read that the proposal would prohibit tourist housing "in certain land use districts." (Def. App. Tabs 1 and 2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> For example, § 120.54(3)(a)(1), Fla. Stat. (2005) requires notice of a proposed administrative rule to provide a short, plain explanation of the purpose and effect of the proposed rule, the full text and a summary of the proposed rule, and specific references to statutes authorizing the proposed rule.

permit self-insured motorist policy exclusions in the list of authorized exclusions, the Legislature has further indicated its intent . . . not to permit self-insured motorist policy exclusions.") (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

While the subject statute does require two public hearings, the subject statute does <u>not</u> require the measure to remain unchanged between the two hearings.<sup>28</sup>

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